Interventions in Parkinson's disease: Role of executive function

Abhimanyu Mahajan^{1,2}, Jennifer A. Deal², Michelle Carlson²

¹Department of Neurology, Henry Ford Hospital, Detroit, MI, ²Bloomberg School of Public Health, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Interventions and their effect on executive function: Evidence thus far
 - 3.1. Pharmacological therapy and executive function
 - 3.1.1. Levodopa
 - 3.1.2. Dopamine agonists
 - 3.1.3. MAO-B inhibitors
 - 3.1.4. COM-T inhibitors
 - 3.2. Aerobic exercise, physical therapy and physiotherapy, executive function
 - 3.3. Deep brain stimulation and executive function
- 4. Conclusion
- 5. Acknowledgement
- 6. References

1. ABSTRACT

The cortico-striatal network plays a major role in executive functions (EF), and is believed to play a role in the pathophysiology of Parkinson's disease (PD). However, the tools to assess EF are limited. This review assesses the impact of all PD interventions. namely, pharmacotherapy, physical exercise and Deep Brain Stimulation (DBS) surgery on EF. The effect of PD pharmacotherapy varies with the drug class, neuropsychological test used and the affected dopamine receptor family. There appears to be a benefit of aerobic exercise on EF, including judgment and attention. The effect of Deep Brain Stimulation on EF might vary with site of brain stimulation, the neuropsychological test performed and the pre-operative cognitive state. The effect of EF on underlying manifestations and as a factor in the pathway to the motor benefit needs to be better assessed with more accurate tests that focus on motor component of EF.

2. INTRODUCTION

The diagnosis of Parkinson's disease (PD) is made using the UK Brain Bank criteria, which takes into account motor symptoms including resting tremor, bradykinesia, rigidity and postural instability (1). Some secondary motor symptoms seen in PD include hypomimia, dysarthria, micrographia, shuffling gait, freezing and festination of gait. It is well understood that PD includes non-motor symptoms such as sleep disorders, cognitive/neuropsychiatric abnormalities, autonomic dysfunction and sensory abnormalities like

pain and paresthesias (2). Studies have found that anxiety, Rapid Eye Movement Sleep behavior disorder and loss of olfaction might be present decades before motor symptoms manifest (3, 4). The role of cognitive and other non-motor features of PD and their effect on the motor functionality and quality of life in PD patients is being increasingly recognized and explored.

Traditionally, executive function (EF) has been thought to be mediated by the prefrontal cortex (PFC) (5). Alexander and Crutcher implicated the corticostriatal network, linking regions of the frontal cortex to striatal structures, via the thalamus and globus pallidus, in playing a vital role in EF (6). As abnormalities in the corticostriatal interactions are believed to play a role in the pathophysiology of PD, the role of EF in the clinical motor manifestations seen in PD patients is worth exploring (7, 8).

PD patients often present with falls which by self-report are frequently secondary to not "paying attention". The prefrontal area of the brain is associated with executive function (attention and decision making), the premotor cortex is involved in the sensory guidance of movement and the supplemental motor area is involved in the planning of complex movement. Studies requiring healthy and PD subjects to focus on a forthcoming motor response have found that in the healthy control subjects attention to action was associated with increased activation, showing increased connectivity of the prefrontal, premotor and supplemental motor areas. This connectivity is altered in patients with PD (9-11).

An important question in assessing EF is whether the neuropsychological tests used to measure EF in patients with motor dysfunction are specific enough to separate "pure" executive dysfunction from motor confounds. For example, the commonly used Trail Making Test (TMT) is dependent on motor processes and is assessed by time to successful completion. In movement disorders, where impairment of motor function is often the most disabling symptom, this might be a major limitation in the accurate assessment of EF. As a result, the final measure of EF is often confounded by the motor function of the patient. Additionally, the performance of a patient on an EF metric in a controlled setting, might not be predictive of the patient's performance on another metric, let alone be predictive of performance in a real life setting (12). Thus, the reported prevalence of executive function in movement disorders might vary with the measure of executive function used. Further, it is important for EF measures to be sensitive enough to differentiate neurodegenerative executive dysfunction from normative age-related changes and to be able to assess EF longitudinally, as the disease progresses.

Data collected in large epidemiological studies involving patients with movement disorders, including PD, often include a single global measure of cognition and extrapolate from these findings to different domains like memory and EF (13, 14). Mamikonyan *et al.* found that mild cognitive impairment, either in single or multiple cognitive domains, occurs in almost one-third of PD patients with intact global cognition as defined by a normal score on the Mini-Mental State Exam (MMSE), a test commonly used in epidemiologic studies (15). Global measures may not be sufficiently sensitive in detecting EF impairments that are prevalent in PD.

In a meta-analysis of neuropsychiatric side effects of DBS in PD patients, Appleby et al. looked at human studies from 1996 to 2006 and finally reviewed 546 articles (16). Their analysis concluded that there is a relatively high incidence of psychiatric adverse effects including delirium, depression, anxiety and suicidality. DBS-associated cognitive changes were not reported. To determine the effect of physical exercise on cognition in older adults with dementia or other cognitive impairment, Heyn et al. reviewed published and non-published manuscripts between 1970 and 2003 (17). Their metaanalysis included 2,020 cognitively impaired subjects, greater than 65 years of age, involved in 30 trials. They concluded that physical exercise was beneficial for cognitively impaired older adults in the domains of physical health, cognitive health and behavioral outcomes. However, there were no available data on PD patients in these studies. Moreover, a potential explanation for such an association was not offered.

Executive dysfunction is associated with functional impairment in older adults and could

be predictive of dementia (18). The role of EF in pathophysiology and management of disorders like PD that are defined by a progression of disruption in motor control have yet to be fully appreciated in the literature. A likely reason is the above mentioned issue with metrics of executive function. One way of better understanding this association is to explore the literature regarding effects of various PD interventions on EF. Although there are no known modalities to arrest or slow the progression of disease, interventions can often provide substantial improvement with symptoms and improve quality of life (19). Interventions in PD can largely be grouped into the following: 1) pharmacological therapy, 2) physiotherapy/physical therapy and aerobic exercise, and, 3) surgery, the most common of which is Deep Brain Stimulation (DBS). In our review, we present data published that speaks to the effect of these interventions on EF, thereby commenting on the relevance of EF in PD and its management. We also present the metrics used by various studies to assess EF.

3. INTERVENTIONS AND THEIR EFFECT ON EXECUTIVE FUNCTION: EVIDENCE THUS

3.1. Pharmacological therapy and executive function

Pharmacological therapy is the cornerstone of treatment for PD patients (Table 1). Pharmacologic treatment of PD can be divided into symptom focused and neuroprotective (disease modifying) therapy. At this time, there is no proven neuroprotective, disease-modifying therapy for PD. Symptomatic drugs used for PD include Levodopa/Carbidopa, dopamine agonists, MAO-B inhibitors and COM-T inhibitors (20) aimed largely at treating motor symptoms such as tremor, postural instability and bradykinesia.

3.1.1. Levodopa

PD is pathologically defined as a loss of dopaminergic neurons leading to a deficiency in dopamine. The synthesis of dopamine in the brain involves the conversion of L-tyrosine to L-dopa and then to dopamine (21). To replenish dopamine levels, Levodopa or L-dopa (L-3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine) is considered the most effective drug in PD. Carbidopa is often given to patients along with Levodopa. Carbidopa allows for greater bioavailability of levodopa in the central nervous system (CNS) by inhibiting the decarboxylation of levodopa to dopamine in the systemic circulation (22).

Although levodopa is one of the most commonly used pharmacological agents for the motor symptoms of PD, it has unintended cognitive and emotional effects, as well. The use of levodopa has been associated with motor effects, such as dyskinesias (uncontrollable movement of one or more parts of the body) and cognitive effects, such as forgetfulness, difficulty with

Table 1. Summary of the studies reviewed

Reference number	Study Length	Study design	Patient Sample	Interventions	Cognitive Metrics used	Conclusion
(24)	3 months	Pre-post drug trial	Patients with PD, PDD or DLB	Levodopa trial	MMSE, UPDRS, VAS, RDS, SRT, CRT, NPI, DVIG RT, NWM RT, DPIC RT	Increased attention Faster reaction times No adverse effects on cognition
(25)	N/A	Pre-post drug withdrawal	PD patients	Withdrawing levodopa in PD patients currently taking it	MMSE, UPDRS, CANTAB, BDI, Task switching, decision making	Levodopa remediates inflexibility, increases impulsivity
(26)	N/A	Randomized double blinded crossover study	PD patients	Immediate release vs Controlled release levodopa	WCST, Steinberg test, Stroop test, Tower of Hanoi, MMSE, BDI, VAS-M	Slower rise in levodopa leads to better performance in working memory tasks.
(30)	N/A	Randomized trial	PD patients with early/mild disease	Pramipexole vs levodopa vs off medication	UPDRS, mWCST, Stroop test, TMT, Spinler matrices, FAS, CVLT, LDFR, DST	Pramipexole may worsen cognitive functions
(31)	N/A	Randomized crossover study	PD patients with early/mild disease	Neuropsych analysis done as: rotigotine/ cabergoline vs levodopa vs off medication`	UPDRS, FAS, TMT, Stroop test, RAVLT, DST, Tower of London, Raven Matrices Test	Combined stimulation of dopamine receptors preserves cognitive function
(34)	8 weeks	Randomized double blind study	PD patients	Selegiline vs placebo	WAIS, WMS, DST, TMT-B, Stroop test, BDI, HAMD	No specific cognitive effects observed
(35)	8 weeks	Randomized double blind study	Levodopa-naïve Early PD patients	Selegiline vs placebo	UPDRS, WCST, Advanced progressive matrices test	Improved mood No change in cognitive variables
(36)	N/A	Observational trial	PD patients on PD medications	Addition of Tolcapone	UPDRS, EuroQol, NMSS, NMSQuest, VAS	Tolcapone addition may improve non-motor symptoms
(37)	3 weeks	Double blind crossover trial	Normal human subjects	Tolcapone vs placebo	Verbal fluency, Verbal episodic memory, CANTAB test, TMT, WCST, fMRI, Letter Number Span	Tolcapone improves cognition and cortical processing in normal human subjects.
(40)	12 weeks	Pre-post single group pilot study	Individuals with chronic stroke	12 weeks of aerobic and strengthening exercise	Fugl-Meyer score, digit span backwards test, Flanker's test, DB test, WAIS, SIS	Exercise improved selected measures of executive function in people with stroke.
(41)	N/A	Pre-post study	Normal human subjects	30 minutes of stair-climbing	Stroop test	Increase in cardiovascular activity can lead to increased processing speed and lower error rate.
(45)	N/A	Cross-sectional analysis of longitudinal study	Older adults with mild aMCI	Exercise (measured by gait speed and TUG task)	Stroop test, TMT-B test, WMS-R	Physical performance speed is associated with executive function.
(47)	N/A	Observational study	PD patients	Depression (assessed by BDI)	MMSE, FAB, BDI, UPDRS	Depression exacerbates executive dysfunction
(48)	N/A	Pre-post 2 arm test	Elderly patients with diagnosed Major depressive disorder	Exercise	DST, Stroop test, HAMD	Exercise improves some components of cognitive function in depressed elderly

(Contd..)

418 © 1996-2017

Table 1. (Continued)

Reference	Study	Study design	Patient Sample	Interventions	Cognitive Metrics used	Conclusion
number	Length					
(56)	N/A	Observational trial	People with advanced PD who underwent B/L STN-DBS	B/L STN-DBS surgery	UPDRS, Computerized neuropsychological test battery, HAMD, FAB	B/L STN DBS improves some functions of gait and cognition
(57)	3 years	Prospective naturalistic controlled study	PD patients with B/L STN DBS vs no DBS	B/L STN DBS	MMSE, UPDRS, DST, FAS, WCST, Ravens matrices, CBTT, LMT	Immediate worsening of executive function. Long term worsening of verbal fluency.

falling and maintaining sleep, nightmares, drowsiness and hallucinations (23). A number of studies have been undertaken to further assess the impact of levodopa on cognition. We will continue to focus on those that have assessed components of EF.

In 2006, Molloy et al. carried out a study to assess the effect of levodopa on global cognition, alertness, verbal recall, reaction times and accuracy (24). Neuropsychiatric tests were conducted at baseline, immediately after a trial of levodopa and 3 months after treatment. The study reported improved motor function and subjective alertness in patients. Further, no deterioration in reaction times and accuracy was reported. Therefore, patients on levodopa showed improvement in both motor speed and cognitive speed without any difference in accuracy. These neuropsychiatric scores showed continued improvement 3 months post-treatment, even among those PD patients with dementia.

Cools et al. sought to assess the effect of dopaminergic withdrawal in PD patients on medication (25). After stopping levodopa, task switching costs, decision making and impulsivity were assessed. The study reported that patients 'off'levodopa showed an increase in task switching costs, which improved after the patients were given levodopa again. On the other hand, these patients showed increased impulsivity as seen by odd betting behaviors when they were 'on' medication as compared to when they were 'off' medication. Results of this study suggest that levodopa may improve cognitive flexibility but also leads to increased impulsivity.

The effect of levodopa on cognition further varies according to the pharmacokinetics properties of dopamine, with a slower rise leading to better cognitive function. The pharmacokinetic properties of dopaminergic drugs in PD patients often leads to reported fluctuations in the motor benefit they experience from these medications. In a randomized, double blind, crossover trial, Pascual-Sedno et al. assessed the differential effect of rate of levodopa uptake on motor and executive functions. Executive function was defined on the basis of performance on four tasks of executive function: Wisconsin Card Sorting Test-WCST, Sternberg test, Stroop and Tower of Hanoi, 1 hour

before and over 6 hours after immediate and controlled release Levodopa dose. They reported a difference in performance on executive function tasks according to the nature of the task performed and the rate of levodopa uptake/bioavailability. PD patients on controlled release levodopa, representing a slower rise in levels, performed better on these tests especially those measuring flexibility in working memory (26).

3.1.2. Dopamine agonists

Dopamine agonists include drugs pramipexole and ropinirole (non-ergot derivates), rotigotine and cabergoline (ergot derivates) and the now sparingly used, apomorphine. By their agonistic action on the D-2 dopamine receptor (apomorphine acts on D-1 receptor as well, ropinirole and cabergoline have an affinity for D-3 and D-1 receptors too) (27), these mimic the role of dopamine in the brain. Dopamine agonists are less effective than levodopa in managing the motor symptoms of Parkinsonism (19). Nonetheless, dopamine agonists, alone or in association with levodopa, are established as effective drugs for the symptomatic treatment of PD. Yamamoto & Schapira reported a decrease in innervation of nigrostriatal neurons with dopamine agonist use (28). Because of the disabling side effect of motor dyskinesia observed in patients with levodopa, dopamine agonists are sometimes preferred in patients who are highly sensitive to levodopa medication.

The side effect profile of dopamine agonists resembles that seen with levodopa including hallucinations, drowsiness and sleep issues. In 2009, a Cochrane review conducted by Antonini and Cilia reported an increased incidence of impulse control disorders with dopamine agonist use, including hoarding, pathological gambling and hypersexuality (29).

In 2013, Brusa *et al.* designed a randomized cross-over study involving non-demented PD patients to compare the effect of dopamine agonists with the pharmacological gold standard levodopa on cognitive functions independent of motor functioning. A previous study done by them in 2003 had shown that pramipexole lead to a depreciation in attention, verbal memory and verbal fluency, as compared to levodopa (30). In the

2003 study, executive function was measured using TMT, Stroop Color Word Naming test, Spinler Matrices and Modified Wisconsin Card Sorting test. They concluded that pramipexole treatment may not show the improvement produced by levodopa on executive function (as evaluated by Stroop test) and further may lead to worsening of attention (as evaluated by TMT and Spinler Matrices). However, the study in 2013, which used rotigotine and cabergoline as the dopamine agonist arm of the study showed that neither the dopamine agonists used, nor levodopa affected performance on cognitive testing. The measures of executive function used included TMT (A, B and B-A), Stroop color word naming test and tower of London test with the UPDRS section III administered at every neuropsychological assessment to verify that the motor function was similar. Brusa et al. concluded that drugs with affinity to both D1 and D2 receptors (levodopa, rotigotine and cabergoline) do not adversely affect cognitive function, while drugs with pure D2 receptor affinity do (31).

Hence the effect of dopamine agonists on EF might vary with the dopamine receptor families involved. Other studies in literature have had mixed results, indicating that the above mentioned hypothesis might be worth further exploration.

3.1.3. MAO-B inhibitors

Monoamine oxygenase inhibitors or MAO-B inhibitors were among the first drugs tried for treatment of PD. Although both selegiline and rasagiline have been used alone and in combination with other PD medications for motor Parkinsonism, they are largely preferred as anti-depressant agents in patients with PD. With their additional beneficial effect on motor symptoms these are particularly suited to PD patients with depressive symptoms.

MAO-B inhibitors work by inhibiting the enzyme monoamine oxygenase which is responsible for the breakdown of monoamines such as dopamine, serotonin and noradrenalineexplaining its beneficial effect on both motor and depressive symptoms in PD patients (32). MAO-B inhibitors prolong and enhance the effect of levodopa by inhibiting its breakdown. Side effects frequently seen with selegiline use include nausea, orthostatic hypotension and insomnia. However, the most important side effect is seen in PD patients who combine its usage with SSRIs like fluoxetine, which causes a combined, enhanced effect called serotonergic syndrome which is a life threatening syndrome characterized by acute mental changes, tremors, myoclonus, restlessness and diaphoresis (14, 33). As it has a strong antidepressant action, secondary to prolonged action of serotonin, noradrenaline and dopamine in the brain, there have been few studies in the past to assess if there is an independent effect on cognition/EF.

In 1991, Hietanen conducted a randomized, double blind study which looked at the effect of selegiline on attention, cognitive flexibility, memory, reasoning and visuospatial abilities apart from motor function and depression. Executive function was defined using TMT-B (both errors and processing time were coded), stroop color test and continuation of a simple alternating figure. Tapping speed, dexterity and writing speed were assessed for motor evaluation. Reaction and movement times were measured by a computer controlled method. The study reported no significant improvement in metrics of cognition including EF. There was a slight improvement in learning which was hypothesized to be secondary to arousal (34). Similarly, in a study conducted in 1995, Dalrymple-Afford et al. concluded that selegiline improved mentation and activities of daily living measured using the UPDRS (perhaps as a result of improved mentation) but showed no clear beneficial effect on executive function measured using the Wisconsin Card Sorting Task and the advanced progressive matrices test (35).

With the FDA approval of rasagiline for PD treatment, there have been a number of studies (TEMPO and PRESTO trails) assessing cognitive effects of rasagiline. While rasagiline does improve mentation and behavior it has not shown any significant independent effect on cognitive variables (33). These results are in accordance with the widely accepted lack of beneficial independent effect of MAO-B inhibitors on cognitive variables, as seen previously with selegiline.

Thus, the only beneficial effect of MAO-B inhibitors on EF seems to be secondary to its effect on arousal. There has not been any independent effect shown in studies.

3.1.4. COM-T inhibitors

COM-T inhibitors or Catechol-O-methyltransferase inhibitors, such as tolcapone and entcapone, are used as adjuvants with Levodopa/Carbidopa in the treatment of PD. The side effects of COM-T inhibitors include diarrhea, dizziness, hallucinations, confusion and in rare cases, severe liver damage (14).

Since COM-T inhibitors are almost always given in conjunction with levodopa, its independent effect on EF is seldom a topic of interest in PD patients. Muller *et al.* conducted an observational trial in which PD patients already on levodopa treatment, who additionally took tolcapone, had improved non motor symptoms, using a previously validated non-motor symptom assessment scale for PD (36). In a study by Apud *et al.* in 2007, 47 non-PD affected subjects underwent testing for EF (CANTAB test, TMT, Wisconsin Card Sorting test and Letter Number Span) and 34 of those subjects underwent testing for prefrontal information processing via functional

magnetic resonance imaging). They concluded that tolcapone improved working memory, EF and pre-frontal cortex function (37). Therefore, from these studies, it does seem that EF is an important beneficiary of the effect of COM-T inhibitors.

3.2. Aerobic exercise, physical therapy, physiotherapy and executive function

The benefits of exercise on mobility, daily function and health are well established. In recent years, the benefits of exercise on cognitive performance in the healthy individual have been increasingly explored. Physical activity during childhood and adolescence has been found to be a lifestyle factor influencing physical and mental health into adulthood and later in life (38). Studies have shown that adults engaging in fitness training vs. controls have higher levels of executive function. Older adults involved in aerobic exercise have better attention and memory updating (38). Increased physical activity has shown to be beneficial in preserving cognitive function and delay dementia in older adults. Moreover, there appears to be a dose-response relationship between physical activity and cognitive function in older adults, with even modest levels of physical activity leading to significant benefits to cognitive aging (39). These benefits of exercise may be secondary to the increased volumes observed on brain MRI of the pre-frontal and temporal grey matter as well as anterior white matter (40). While cardiovascular pathways have been recognized as an important mechanism of this benefit, recent randomized controlled trials have shown an impact on executive control associated with multiple activity pathways. Neurotrophins, including brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), insulin like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) and estrogen, may also serve as mediators in the pathway of the beneficial effect seen with both aerobic and anerobic exercise (39).

The literature linking physical exercise to cognitive benefits in healthy older adults has been hypothesized to benefit cognition in older adults suffering from neurological disorders such as dementia, chronic stroke, traumatic brain injury and multiple sclerosis. Heyn et al. conducted a meta-analysis of randomized trials spanning 30 years on the effect of exercise in cognitively impaired older adults (17). The meta-analysis reported beneficial effect of exercise on cognition, although the mechanism of such a benefit is not completely understood.

In a pre-post pilot study assessing the benefits of an aerobic exercise regime on older adults with a history of chronic stroke, Kluding *et al.* evaluated the relationship between aerobic exercise capacity and EF. EF was measured using digit span backwards and Flanker test. Aerobic fitness aerobic fitness (VO₂peak, 6-minute walk distance) and function (Fugl-Meyer, 10-meter walk speed) were also evaluated. They found a significant correlation between improved aerobic capacity

and improved performance on the Flanker test (r=0.7.4; p=0.0.2) (40). Tam assessed changes in EF (assessed using the color-naming Stroop test) before and within 30 minutes of stair climbing and before and after 'non-exercise' as control. The study reported an improvement in processing speed and a decrease in error, perhaps pointing towards a possible direction for further research for a mechanism (41).

A prospective investigation in the Health Professionals Follow-up Study (HPFS) and the Nurses' Health Study (NHS) concluded that higher levels of physical activity were associated with a lower risk of PD in men (42). The investigation however, could not comment on potential underlying mechanisms of benefit. While there is limited information on the effect of exercise on dopamine levels in humans. Petzinger et al. demonstrated an increase in total dopamine levels in rodents with exercise, although they concluded that such a benefit might be dependent on the presence or absence of a nigrostriatal lesion (43). Similarly, from their experiments on the effect of habitual physical activity on dopamine transmission in animal models, Foley et al. concluded that habitual physical activity may contribute to an increase in dopamine synthesis and a reduction in D2 receptor inhibition in the substantia nigra (44).

In the absence of ability of the PD patient to independently engage in moderate aerobic exercise, physical therapy is often advised by neurologists. In a cross-sectional analysis, Mc Gough et al., in their study on sedentary older adults with mild cognitive impairment, sought to assess the association between the results of 2 commonly used tests used by physical therapists (gait speed and Timed "Up and Go" test or 'TUG') on EF (evaluated by TMT-B and Stroop Color word test). They found an association between TMT-B (p=0.0.03) and Stroop Color word test (p=0.0.1) and gait speed, indicating that a slower gait speed as associated with a lower EF. Further longer time on TUG was also found to be associated with a lower score on TMT-B (p<0.0.01) and Stroop Color. (45) These results suggest that physical therapy could improve EF in older cognitively impaired adults.

An important factor to consider in the effects of aerobic exercise and physical therapy on improving EF and cognitive function is underlying depression. Depression has been described as one of the most important non-motor manifestations in PD. It impairs motility and affects activities of daily living. In fact, the National Parkinson's Foundation has implicated depression to be twice as devastating as motor impairments for the health of a PD patient (46). Depression in older adults often presents as cognitive slowing and is known as 'pseudo-dementia'. In a study by Kummer *et al.*, 82 PD patients were assessed for PD severity (UPDRS, Schwab-England Scale, and Hoehn-Yahr Scale), depression (Beck Depression

Inventory or 'BDI') and executive function (Frontal Assessment Battery or 'FAB' and MMSE). Scores on the FAB, but not the MMSE, worsened with increased scores on BDI, in PD patients with a lower educational level. It was concluded that depression may worsen EF, especially in subjects with lower educational level (47).

In 2011, Vasques et al. showed that moderate physical exercise improves attention and processing speed in the depressed elders as well. In this study, elderly patients with diagnosed major depressive disorder underwent cognitive testing (Digit Span Test and a Stroop Color-Word Test) before, during, immediately after and 15 minutes after an exercise session on the electric treadmill. While there was no change in the Digit Span test between control and exercise, results of the Stroop Color-Word Test improved after physical exercise, indicating a positive effect of exercise on cognition in patients with dementia, especially attention and inhibitory control (48).

Tabak *et al.* further assessed the effect of an 8-week program of aerobic exercise training on a stationary bicycle on EF (assessed by the MoCA, Parkinson's Disease Cognitive Rating Scale and the Color Trails Test 1 and 2) and subjective sense of mood in 2 PD patients (49). Both studies reported an improvement in EF and subjective improvements in mood.

Based on studies included in this analysis, there seems to be some benefit of aerobic exercise on PD symptoms, with indications that exercise might improve EF, including judgment and attention in the presence and absence of depression (40,41,49).

3.3. Deep brain stimulation and executive function

Deep brain stimulation (DBS) is currently used as a treatment modality when the beneficial effect of medications has either been exhausted, or if the side effect profile of medications is disabling for the PD patient. The extent of the beneficial effect of DBS experienced by PD patients is largely similar to the maximum amount medications can provide, and sometimes reportedly better (50). PD patients, therefore, are greatly able to reduce their drug dosage (51).

The mechanism of action of DBS is not completely understood. However, it is agreed that it involves creating a reversible lesion or 'micro infarct' inside the targeted area of the brain (52). Since the procedure is far less invasive, has a better side effect profile and has largely better functional outcomes, DBS is currently preferred to pallidotomy as the surgical procedure of choice in PD patients (53).

For PD patients exhausted on medical therapy, the three regions of the brain usually targeted are the subthalmic nucleus (STN), the Globus Pallidus pars

interns (GPi) and the ventralis intermedius nucleus of the thalamus (Vim). While the Vim is preferred as a target for tremors, GPi and STN are preferred if bradykinesia and rigidity are the more disabling symptoms. GPi is known to have a more beneficial effect than STN for dyskinesias (52).

Careful selection of the patient who is appropriate for DBS is critical to outcomes. Potential complications with the surgical procedure include hemorrhage, infection/ erosion and hardware (i.e., electrode) complications (54). One of the most important pre-surgical determinants is the neuropsychological evaluation. Specifically, DBS may be temporarily deferred or declined in patients with pre-operative cognitive impairment. Such patients are recognized as poor candidates and may worsen after surgery (52). Neuropsychiatric side effects reported with STN-DBS include mood disorders such as depression, hypomania/euphoria and suicidal intent and cognitive impairment including executive dysfunction, memory worsening and decline in verbal fluency (50).

Therefore, while the effect of DBS surgery on the motor aspect of movement disorders has been the primary area of interest for therapeutic reasons, the effect of DBS on cognition seem to be more important while assessing side effects and quality of life post-surgery. The impact of DBS on cognition is widely accepted. With a better understanding of the underlying processes and mechanisms, it might be possible to stimulate the correct areas of the brain in carefully selected patients to benefit cognition. A small phase I study on the use of DBS as a 'brain pacemaker' for Alzheimer's disease has shown promising results (55). Currently, a trial for the use of DBS targeting the fornix, as a treatment modality for Alzheimer's disease is underway.

The results of studies on DBS for cognitive outcomes have been mixed. In a meta-analysis of 546 articles over 10 years from 1995-2006, Appleby et al. found that while 13% reported a decline in cognitive variables, 12% of the studies reported an improvement and 57% reported no change (16). Similarly, Seri-Fainshtat et al., in their study on 28 post-DBS PD patients, reported an improvement in gait speed and attention post-DBS but no overall improvement in EF assessed by a previously validated computerized version of the Go-No-Go and the Stroop interference tests (56).

However, in their prospective study on PD patients with DBS surgery, Zangaglia *et al.* reported worse EF (assessed by logical executive function task scores) and verbal fluency (assessed by FAS scores) immediately post-surgery and significant worsening of verbal fluency 3 years after (57).

In their review of cognitive outcomes post-DBS, Borgohain *et al.* recognized the importance of the surgical target on cognitive outcomes. Their review reported mild worsening in verbal fluency with STN-DBS, while GPi-DBS showed no change in cognition (58).

EF in post-DBS PD patients might vary with site of brain stimulation, the neuropsychological test performed and the pre-operative cognitive status of the patient (52). Practicing caution and in the absence of a full-proof predictor algorithm, a poor preoperative cognitive function is considered a contraindication to DBS surgery.

4. CONCLUSION

EF is known to be associated with flexibility of thought, processing speed, decision-making and inhibition of irrelevant actions in the execution of deliberate motor action (59). The repetition of excessive motor function (resting tremor), slowness of deliberate action (bradykinesia) and freezing of gait characterizes some of the recognizable motor features of PD. Our review on these interventions, their side effects and their impact on cognitive outcomes indicates that all forms of PD interventions namely, pharmacotherapy, exercise/physical therapy and DBS, appear to impact EF. A clear mechanistic pathway between EF and PD is difficult to extract from available literature. However, there are some promising leads moving forwards. Loss of cells in norepinephrine-locus cerulus is essential to the pathophysiology of PD and norepinephrine uptake inhibitors like Atomoxetine have been shown to have some benefit with clinical manifestations in executive dysfunction in PD (60). Currently, a phase II trial is underway further evaluating this effect (61). Although the association between EF and PD is likely complex with multiple factors involved, our review of the available evidence suggests that multiple components of EF are key to the symptoms of PD. Moving forward one major objective may be to place greater emphasis on the assessment of components of EF with a particular focus on the motor component of EF, such as the EXIT-25 test and the Frontal Assessment Battery (FAB) (62). With more accurate testing, a potential role of EF as a prognostic marker for PD severity can also be explored. Whether EF is an important factor in the pathophysiology of manifestations of PD and/or a factor in the pathway to the motor benefit seen with interventions needs to be better understood. As such, a broader understanding of the role of EF in PD could have important ramifications for further understanding and managing PD.

5. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank the Bloomberg School of Public Health, the Department of Epidemiology and the Center of Aging and Health at Johns Hopkins University where this project was initiated and the majority of it was completed.

6. REFERENCES

- J Massano, KP Bhatia: Clinical approach to Parkinson's disease: features, diagnosis, and principles of management. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med.*;2(6):a008870 (2012) DOI: 10.1101/cshperspect.a008870
- J Jankovic: Parkinson's disease: clinical features and diagnosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.;79(4):368-376. (2008) DOI: 10.1136/jnnp.2007.131045
- BF Boeve: REM sleep behavior disorder: Updated review of the core features, the REM sleep behavior disorder-neurodegenerative disease association, evolving concepts, controversies, and future directions. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.*;1184:15-54. (2010) DOI: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05115.x
- RB Postuma, D Aarsland, P Barone, DJ Burn, CH Hawkes, W Oertel, T Ziemssen: Identifying prodromal Parkinson's disease: pre-motor disorders in Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord.;27(5):617-626. (2012) DOI: 10.1002/mds.24996
- G Ball, PR Stokes, RA Rhodes, SK Bose, I Rezek, AM Wink, LD Lord, MA Mehta, PM Grasby, FE Turkheimer: Executive Functions and Prefrontal Cortex: A Matter of Persistence? Front Syst Neurosci.;5:3. (2011) DOI: 10.3.389/fnsys.2011.0.0003
- GE Alexander GE, MD Crutcher: Functional architecture of basal ganglia circuits: neural substrates of parallel processing. *Trends Neurosci.*;13(7):266-271. (1990) DOI: 10.1016/0166-2236(90)90107-L
- P Calabresi, NB Mercuri, G Sancesario, G Bernardi: Electrophysiology of dopamine denervated striatal neurons. Implications for Parkinson's disease. *Brain*.;116:433–452. (1993)
 - DOI: 10.1093/brain/116.2.433
- 8. P Calabresi, D Centonze, G Bernardi: Electrophysiology of dopamine denervated striatal neurons. *Trends Neurosci.*;23:S57–S63. (2000)
 - DOI: 10.1016/S1471-1931(00)00017-3

 R Elliot: Executive functions and their
 - disorders. *Br Med Bull*.;65:49-59. (2003) DOI: 10.1093/bmb/65.1.49
- 10. J Rowe, ES Klaas, K Friston, R Frackowiak,

- A Lees, R Passingham: Attention to action in Parkinson's disease: impaired effective connectivity among frontal cortical regions. *Brain.*; 125(Pt 2): 276–289. (2002) DOI: 10.1093/brain/awf036
- A Tessitore, A Giordano, R De Micco, A Russo, G Tedeschi: Sensorimotor Connectivity in Parkinson's Disease: The Role of Functional Neuroimaging. Front Neurol., 5, 180. (2014) DOI: 10.3389/fneur.2014.00180
- PW Burgess, N Alderman, J Evans, H Emslie, BA Wilson: The ecological validity of tests of executive function. J Int Neuropsychol Soc., 4 (6), pp. 547–558 (1998) DOI: 10.1017/S1355617798466037
- 13. B Sheehan: Assessment scales in dementia. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord*.;5(6):349-358. (2012) DOI: 10.1177/1756285612455733
- 14. DJ Burdick, B Cholerton, GS Watson, A Siderowf, JQ Trojanowski, D Weintraub, B Ritz, SL Rhodes, R Rausch, SA Factor, C Wood-Siverio, JF Quinn, KA Chung, S Srivatsal, KL Edwards, TJ Montine, CP Zabetian, JB Leverenz: People with Parkinson's disease and normal MMSE score have a broad range of cognitive performance. Mov Disord. (10):1258-64. (2014) DOI: 10.1002/mds.25924
- 15. E Mamikonyan, PJ Moberg, A Siderowf, JE Duda, TT Have, MB Stern, D Weintraub: Mild cognitive impairment is common in Parkinson's disease patients with normal Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) scores. Parkinsonism Relat Disord, 15(3), 226-231. (2009)

DOI: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2008.05.006

 BS Appleby, PS Duggan, A Regenberg, PV Rabins: Psychiatric and neuropsychiatric adverse events associated with deep brain stimulation: A meta-analysis of ten years' experience. Mov Disord.;22(12):1722-1728. (2007)

DOI: 10.1002/mds.21551

- P Heyn, BC Abreu, KJ Ottenbacher: The effects of exercise training on elderly persons with cognitive impairment and dementia: a meta-analysis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.*;85(10):1694-1704. (2004)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.apmr.2004.03.019
- 18. J Brandt, E Aretouli, E Neijstrom, J Samek,

- K Manning, MS Albert, K Bandeen-Roche: Selectivity of executive function deficits in mild cognitive impairment. *Neuropsychology*.;23(5):607-618. (2009) DOI: 10.1037/a0015851
- NINDS. NINDS Parkinson's disease: Hope through research (online information).
 Available at http://www.ninds.nih.gov/disorders/parkinsons_disease/detail_parkinsons_disease.htm. Accessed May 12, 2014 (2014)
- J Jankovic, LG Aguilar LG: Current approaches to the treatment of Parkinson's disease.
 Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.;4(4):743-757.
 (2008)

DOI: 10.2147/NDT.S2006

- 21. S Fahn: The history of dopamine and levodopa in the treatment of Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord.*;23 Suppl 3:S497-508. (2008) DOI: 10.1002/mds.22028
- J Jankovic: Parkinson's disease: clinical features and diagnosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.;79(4):368-376. (2008)
 DOI: 10.1136/innp.2007.131045
- NIH UNLoM. Levodopa and Carbidopa: MedlinePlus Levodopa and Carbidopa (online information). Available at http://www.nlm.nih. gov/medlineplus/druginfo/meds/a601068. html#side-effects. Accessed May 12, 2014. (2013)
- 24. SA Molloy, EN Rowan, JT O'Brien JT, IG McKeith, K Wesnes, DJ Burn: Effect of levodopa on cognitive function in Parkinson's disease with and without dementia and dementia with Lewy bodies. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*.;77(12):1323-1328. (2006)

DOI: 10.1136/jnnp.2006.098079

- R Cools, RA Barker, BJ Sahakian, TW Robbins: L-Dopa medication remediates cognitive inflexibility, but increases impulsivity in patients with Parkinson's disease. Neuropsychologia.;41(11):1431-1441. (2003) DOI: 10.1016/S0028-3932(03)00117-9
- 26. B Pascual-Sedano, J Kulisevsky, M Barbanoj, C García-Sánchez, A Campolongo, A Gironell, J Pagonabarraga, I Gich: Levodopa and executive performance in Parkinson's disease: a randomized study. J Int Neuropsychol Soc.:14(5):832-841. (2008)

- DOI: 10.1017/S1355617708081010
- M Gerlach, K Double, T Arzberger, F Leblhuber, T Tatschner, P Riederer: Dopamine receptor agonists in current clinical use: comparative dopamine receptor binding profiles defined in the human striatum. J Neural Transm.;110(10):1119-1127. (2003) DOI: 10.1007/s00702-003-0027-5
- 28. M Yamamoto, AH Schapira: Dopamine agonists in Parkinson's disease. Expert Rev Neurother.;8(4):671-677. (2008)
 DOI: 10.1586/14737175.8.4.671
- 29. AAntonini, R Cilia: Behavioural adverse effects of dopaminergic treatments in Parkinson's disease: incidence, neurobiological basis, management and prevention. *Drug Saf.*;32(6):475-488. (2009)
 DOI: 10.2165/00002018-200932060-00004
- L Brusa, A Bassi, A Stefani, M Pierantozzi, A Peppe, MD Caramia, L Boffa, S Ruggieri, P Stanzione: Pramipexole in comparison to I-dopa: a neuropsychological study. J Neural Transm.;110(4):373-380. (2003) DOI: 10.1007/s00702-002-0811-7
- L Brusa, V Pavino, MC Massimetti, R Bove, C Iani, P Stanzione: The effect of dopamine agonists on cognitive functions in nondemented early-mild Parkinson's disease patients. Funct Neurol.;28(1):13-17. (2013)
- 32. P Riederer, G Laux: MAO-inhibitors in Parkinson's Disease. *Exp Neurobiol.*;20(1):1-17. (2011) DOI: 10.5607/en.2011.20.1.1
- 33. LNayak, C Henchcliffe: Rasagiline in treatment of Parkinson's disease. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*.;4(1):23-32. (2008)
- 34. MH Hietanen: Selegiline and cognitive function in Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neurol Scand*.;84(5):407-410. (1991)
 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.1991.tb04978.x
- JC Dalrymple-Alford, CF Jamieson, IM Donaldson: Effects of selegiline (deprenyl) on cognition in early Parkinson's disease. *Clinical neuropharmacology*.;18(4):348-359. (1995) DOI: 10.1097/00002826-199508000-00007
- 36. T Muller: Tolcapone addition improves Parkinson's disease associated nonmotor symptoms. Ther Adv Neurol Disord.;7(2):77-82. (2014)

- DOI: 10.1177/1756285613512392
- 37. JA Apud, V Mattay, J Chen, BS Kolachana, JH Callicott, R Rasetti, G Alce, JE Iudicello, N Akbar, MF Egan, TE Goldberg, DR Weinberger: Tolcapone improves cognition and cortical information processing in normal human subjects. Neuropsychopharmacology;32:1011–20. (2007)
 - DOI: 10.1038/sj.npp.1301227
- CH Hillman, KI Erickson, AF Kramer: Be smart, exercise your heart: exercise effects on brain and cognition. *Nat Rev Neurosci.*;9(1):58-65. (2008)

DOI: 10.1038/nrn2298

- 39. MC Carlson, VR Varma: Activity and Neurocognitive Health In Older Adults. In Waldstein SR & Elias MF (Eds.), Neuropsychology of Cardiovascular Disease 2nd Edition. Taylor & Francis Psychology Press. (2015)
- PM Kluding, BY Tseng, SA Billinger: Exercise and executive function in individuals with chronic stroke: a pilot study. *J Neurol Phys Ther.*;35(1):11-17. (2011)
 DOI: 10.1097/NPT.0b013e318208ee6c
- 41. ND Tam: Improvement of Processing Speed in Executive Function Immediately following an Increase in Cardiovascular Activity. *Cardiovasc Psychiatry Neurol.*;2013:212767. (2013)
 DOI: 10.1155/2013/212767
- 42. H Chen, SM Zhang, MA Schwarzschild, MA Hernan, A Ascherio: Physical activity and the risk of Parkinson disease. *Neurology*;64(4):664-669. (2005) DOI: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000151960.28687.93
- 43. GM Petzinger, JP Walsh, G Akopian, E Hogg, A Abernathy, P Arevalo, P Turnquist, M Vucković, BE Fisher, DM Togasaki, MW Jakowec: Effects of treadmill exercise on dopaminergic transmission in the 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine-lesioned mouse model of basal ganglia injury. *J Neurosci.*;27(20):5291-5300. (2007) DOI: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1069-07.2007
- 44. TE Foley, M Fleshner: Neuroplasticity of dopamine circuits after exercise: implications for central fatigue. *Neuromolecular Med.*;10(2):67-80. (2008)

- DOI: 10.1007/s12017-008-8032-3
- 45. EL McGough, VE Kelly, RG Logsdon, SM McCurry, BB Cochrane, JM Engel, L Teri: Associations between physical performance and executive function in older adults with mild cognitive impairment: gait speed and the timed "up & go" test. *Phys Ther.*;91(8):1198-1207. (2011)

 DOI: 10.2522/ptj.20100372
- 46. National Parkinson Foundation: Parkinson's Outcome Project: Report to the Community. (online report). Available at http://www.parkinson.org/NationalParkinsonFoundation/files/3f/3fea24f4-9081-4f82-b96e-7a996d2133a3.pdf. Accessed May 12, 2014. (2013)
- A Kummer, E Harsanyi, FM Dias, F Cardoso, P Caramelli, AL Teixeira: Depression impairs executive functioning in Parkinson disease patients with low educational level. *Cogn Behav Neurol.*;22(3):167-172. (2009) DOI: 10.1097/WNN.0b013e3181b278f9
- 48. PE Vasques, H Moraes, H Silveira, AC Deslandes, J Laks: Acute exercise improves cognition in the depressed elderly: the effect of dual-tasks. *Clinics (Sao Paulo).*;66(9):1553-1557. (2011)
 DOI: 10.1590/S1807-59322011000900008
- 49. R Tabak, G Aquije, BE Fisher: Aerobic exercise to improve executive function in Parkinson disease: a case series. *J Neurol Phys Ther.*;37(2):58-64. (2013) DOI: 10.1097/NPT.0b013e31829219bc
- 50. K Witt, C Daniels, J Volkmann: Factors associated with neuropsychiatric side effects after STN-DBS in Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism relat disord*.;18 Suppl 1:S168-170. (2012) DOI: 10.1016/S1353-8020(11)70052-9
- NINDS_DBS: NINDS Deep Brain Stimulation for Parkinson's Disease Information Page. (online report). http://www.ninds.nih.gov/ disorders/deep_brain_stimulation/deep_ brain_stimulation.htm. Accessed May 12, 2014. (2014)
- 52. A Machado, AR Rezai, BH Kopell, RE Gross, AD Sharan, AL Benabid: Deep brain stimulation for Parkinson's disease: surgical technique and perioperative management. Mov Disord.;21 Suppl 14:S247-258. (2006) DOI: 10.1002/mds.20959

- 53. RA Esselink, RM de Bie, RJ de Haan, MW Lenders, PC Nijssen, MJ Staal, HM Smeding, PR Schuurman, DA Bosch, JD Speelman: Unilateral pallidotomy versus bilateral subthalamic nucleus stimulation in PD: a randomized trial. Neurology.;62(2):201-207. (2004)
 - DOI: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000103235.12621.C3
- 54. SJ Groiss, L Wojtecki, M Sudmeyer, A Schnitzler: Deep brain stimulation in Parkinson's disease. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord*.;2(6):20-28. (2009)
 DOI: 10.1177/1756285609339382
- 55. Medicine JH: Deep Brain Stimulation May Hold Promise for Mild Alzheimer's Disease. (online information). http://www. hopkinsmedicine.org/news/media/releases/ deep_brain_stimulation_may_hold_promise_ for_mild_alzheimers_disease. Accessed May 12, 2014. (2012)
- 56. E Seri-Fainshtat, Z Israel, A Weiss, JM Hausdorff: Impact of sub-thalamic nucleus deep brain stimulation on dual tasking gait in Parkinson's disease. *J Neuroeng Rehabil.*;10(1):38. (2013)
 DOI: 10.1186/1743-0003-10-38
- 57. R Zangaglia, C Pacchetti, C Pasotti, F Mancini, D Servello, E Sinforiani, S Cristina, M Sassi, G Nappi: Deep brain stimulation and cognitive functions in Parkinson's disease: A three-year controlled study. *Mov Disord*.;24(11):1621-1628. (2009) DOI: 10.1002/mds.22603
- 58. R Borgohain, RM Kandadai, A Jabeen, MA Kannikannan: Nonmotor outcomes in Parkinson's disease: is deep brain stimulation better than dopamine replacement therapy? *Ther Adv Neurol Disord*.;5(1):23-41. (2012) DOI: 10.1177/1756285611423412
- 59. S Funahashi: Neuronal mechanisms of executive control by the prefrontal cortex. *Neurosci Res.*;39(2):147-165. (2001) DOI: 10.1016/S0168-0102(00)00224-8
- L Marsh L, K Biglan, M Gerstenhaber, JR Williams: Atomoxetine for the treatment of executive dysfunction in Parkinson's disease: A pilot open-label study. Mov disord.;24(2):277-282. (2009)
 DOI: 10.1002/mds.22307
- 61. Michael J. Fox Foundation: Atomoxetine for Cognitive Impairment in Parkinson's Disease.

- (online information). https://www.michaeljfox.org/foundation/grant-detail.php?grant_id=1037. Accessed April 30, 2015. (2014)
- 62. P Moorhouse, M Gorman, K Rockwood: Comparison of EXIT-25 and the Frontal Assessment Battery for evaluation of executive dysfunction in patients attending a memory clinic. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*.;27(5):424-428. (2009) DOI: 10.1159/000212755

Abbreviations: aMCI: amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment, B/L STN: Bilateral Subthalmic Nucleus, BDI: Beck Depression Inventory, CBTT: Corsi Block Tapping Test, CRT: Choice Reaction Time, CVLT: California Verbal Learning Test, DB: Digit Span Backwards test, DBS: Deep Brain Stimulation, DLB: Dementia with Lewy bodies, DPIC RT: Delayed Picture Recognition Reaction Time, DST: Digit Span Test, DVIG RT: Digit Vigilance Reaction Time, FAB: Frontal Assessment Battery, fMRI: functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging, HAMD: Hamilton Depression Rating Scale, ICD: Impulse Control Disorders, LDFR: Long Day Free Recall, LMT: Logical Memory Test, MMSE: Mini Mental State Exam, mWCST: modified Wisconsin Card Sorting Test, NMSQues: Non Motor Screening Questionnaire, NMSS: Non Motor Screening assessment Scale, NPI: Neuro-Psychiatric Index, NWM RT: Numeric Working Memory Reaction Time, PD: Parkinson's disease, PDD: Parkinson's disease with dementia, RAVLT: Ray Auditory Verbal Learning Test, RDS: Reverse Digit Span, SIS: Stroke Impact Scale, SRT: Simple Reaction Time, TMT: Trail Making Test, TMT-B: Trail Making Test Part B, TUG: Timed Up and Go task, UPDRS: Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale, VAS: Visual Analogue Scale, VAS-M: Visual Analogue Scale-Mood, WAIS: Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, WCST: Wisconsin Card Sorting Test, WMS-R: Wechsler Memory Scale-Revised

Key Words: Executive Function, Parkinson's Disease, DBS, Neuroepidemiology, Review

Send correspondence to: Abhimanyu Mahajan, Henry Ford Hospital, 2799 W Grand Boulevard, K-11, Detroit, MI – 48202, Tel: 443-683-6552, Fax: 212-241-1385, E-mail: amahaja1@hfhs.org